IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JULIAN C. WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-2030-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Erin E. Pridgen, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Julian C. Williams

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JULIAN C. WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-2030-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT THE REQUESTED "HEAT OF PASSION" JURY INSTRUCTION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi, where Julian C. Williams was convicted of murder. A jury trial was held on October 17-18, 2007, with the Honorable David H. Strong, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. Following the trial, Williams was sentenced to life imprisonment under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and ordered to pay court costs and attorney fees. Williams is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

In the early morning of July 15, 2006, the Lincoln County Sheriff's Department received a 911 call that a young woman, Rhonda M. Mullins a/k/a Rhonda M. Mullen a/k/a/ Michelle Mullen [hereinafter referred to as "Michelle"], was unresponsive and appeared to be dead at the Louise Blades' trailer park, in Lincoln County, Mississippi, . [T. 144, 150, R.E. 911 call] Michelle's body was found under Thomas Black's bed in his one-bedroom trailer. [T. 138]. The events leading up the discovery of the body are detailed below.

Louise Blades' trailer park is an area known from heavy drinking and rampant drug activity. [T. 171]. Odessia Humpries, Beulah Ward and Tom Black were all residents of the trailer park and Williams and Michelle were visitors. [T. 104, 106, 119, 130]. On the night of July 14, 2006, all of the parties were at Ward's trailer, getting high and drinking. [T. 124] Williams and Michelle had just met that evening at the trailer park. At some point during the night, Williams asked Black if he could take Michelle to Black's trailer. [T. 133] Williams and Michelle went to Black's trailer to

engage in consensual sex. [R.E. 24-25] [T. 187-88, 209] The two left the gathering at Ward's house and headed to Black's trailer. [T. 122-123]

Leonard Porter, Jr. testified that he arrived at Black's trailer earlier that night because he was heavily intoxicated. [T. 100] When he entered the trailer, no one was there. [Id.] Later on, he woke up when he saw an arm opening the door but he went back to sleep. [T. 101] He could not identify the person opening the door. [Id.] Porter testified that he stayed on the couch until the next morning, when his ride arrived to take him to his job. [Id.]

According to Williams' statement to police, after Williams and Michelle completed the sexual intercourse, Michelle became very violent and loud. [State Exhibit 7, R.E. 24-25] At the same time, Williams heard noises outside of the trailer's bedroom. [Id.] Fearing the Michelle was assisting in an attempted robbery, Williams grabbed Michelle around the neck to keep her quite. [Id.] He left her to investigate the noise outside and, when he returned, Michelle was unconscious. [Id.] Not knowing what to do, Williams's statement indicates that he placed Michelle underneath the bed where she fell. [Id.] Williams returned to the gathering at Ward's trailer. [T. 109, 123, 134]

Later, Black returned to his trailer and testified that he attempted to go to sleep in the bed but he was repeatedly interrupted by visitors. [T. 135-36] Unable to sleep, he went back to Ward's trailer.[T. 136] Close to daybreak, Black went back to his trailer to sleep. [T. 138] According to his testimony, as he reached over the bed to toss out the ashes of his cigar, he noticed Michelle's hair underneath the bed. [T. 138] Michelle's discovery was made difficult by the fact that Black only had one working light, located in the bathroom. [T. 135]

Black went to Ward's house to inform Ward and Humpries about the discovery and the ladies called the police. [T. 138]

At trial, Dr. Steven Hayne of the Medical Examiner's Office, testified that an autopsy of the

victim was conducted on July 16, 2006. [T. 179] A toxicology report was also produced. [T. 186-87] At the time of her death, Michelle's body tested positive for the presence of cocaine, cocaethylene (present when one consumes drinking alcohol over a short period of time with cocaine in the blood), nordiazepm (break down of the drug Valium) and morphine. [T. 186-87] Dr. Hayne concluded, however, that these drugs where not the cause of Michelle's death, rather her death was the result of manual strangulation. [T. 187, 182]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to grant the "heat of passion" jury instruction. Williams was denied his fundamental right to have the jury instructed on his defense theory. The trial court should have determined that the jury could have drawn a reasonable inference from the specific facts of this case.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT THE REQUESTED "HEAT OF PASSION" JURY INSTRUCTION

An accused is entitled to have a jury instruction that presents the theory of his case. *Murphy* v. *State*, 566 So. 2d 1201, 1206 (Miss. 1990). The trial court may refuse an instruction, however, if it incorrectly states the law, is adequately covered elsewhere in the instructions, or is not supported by the evidence. *Heidel v. State*, 587 So. 2d 835, 842 (Miss. 1991). In order to determine if the jury has been properly instructed, the jury instructions should be considered as a whole and no one instruction should be taken out of context. *Malone v. State*, 486 So. 2d 360, 365 (Miss. 1986).

The trial court erred in refusing to grant the requested "heat of passion" jury instructions D-9 and D-10, finding they were not supported by the facts of the case. D-9 listed the elements of manslaughter and D-10 defined the "heat of passion." [R.E. 22-23] In rejecting the proposed jury

instructions, the trial court determined the following,

"... the defendant states on the tape that he was in fear of being robbed, but there is just no evidence to indicate that the person who he allegedly killed was the potential robber. She was, obviously, based on the evidence, she was in the room with him and didn't have any clothes on. So if he had killed someone who he reasonably thought might have been part of a robbery, then maybe [Mr. Sermos] would be right. But in this case, I just don't think the facts support that instruction."

[T. 221]

The defense counsel then informed the court that jury instructions were needed to allow the jury to draw an inference that Michelle may have been guilty of a conspiracy to rob Williams. [T. 221] The trial court simply found that the inference was unreasonable and refused to proceed further. [Id.]

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "every accused has a fundamental right to have [his] theory of the case presented to the jury, even if the evidence is minimal." *Chinn v. State*, 958 So. 2d 1223, 1225 (¶13) (Miss. 2007). The Court went on to state that the accused has an absolute right to have the jury properly instructed on every lawful defense he chooses to assert, even if the defense is based on "meager evidence and highly unlikely." *Id.*; *Satcher v. State*, 852 So. 2d 595, 599 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

In refusing the "heat of passion" jury instructions, the trial court denied Williams' fundamental right to present an essential defense theory of the case. "Heat of passion" has been defined by Mississippi courts as:

"... a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror."

Mullins v. State, 493 So. 2d 971, 974 (Miss. 1986).

In both Williams written confession and the taped confession, he consistently informed the police that he was afraid for his life that Michelle had set him up to rob him. [State Exhibit 7, R.E. 25-26] After Williams and Michelle had consensual sex, Williams said he heard a noise outside. [Id.] Williams began to put on his clothes to leave, but after Michelle attempted to retain him, he became "very afraid and feared for his life." [R.E. 25-26] It was at this time that Williams began choking Michelle, only trying to silence her and to stop the robbery attempt before he could be hurt. [State Exhibit 7, R.E. 25-26] He eventually left Michelle to see who was outside and, after being unable to determine who was outside, he immediately came back in the bedroom to check on her. [Id.] It was at this time he realized that she was non-responsive. [Id.]

Given Williams admitted use of crack cocaine on the night in question, it is quite reasonable that he would believe that Michelle's actions, couple with the apparent noises from outside would put him in the "emotion state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror." After Williams' initially heard the noise coming from outside, Michelle became agitated, loud, and violent toward him. [Id.] When he tried to leave the room to investigate the noise, her suspicious behavior became more apparent in that she tried to detain him in the bedroom. [R.E. 25-26]

Not only was it reasonable that Williams feared for his life due to Michelle's unusual and violent behavior, it was also reasonable that someone would attempt to rob Williams. The Louise Blades' trailer park had a reputation for being a place of a lot of drug activities and heavy drinking. [T. 172]. According to Investigator John Hall, Jr. of the Lincoln County Sheriff's Department, the trailer park had heavy foot traffic, mostly on the weekends, and one could expect drug users to walk back and forth throughout the trailer park most of the night. [T. 172].

The trial court reasoned that since Michelle was unarmed and unclothed, one could not draw

a reasonable inference that she conspired to partake in a scheme to rob Williams. [T. 221] However, there was a factual basis to support Williams defense and the trial court erred in denying Williams of this fundamental right to have the jury properly consider the "heat of passion" instruction. The Court has held that, "where the defendant's proffered instruction has an evidentiary basis, properly states the law, and is the only instruction presenting his theory of the case, refusal to grant it constitutes reversible error." *Phillipson v. State*, 943 So. 2d 670, 671-72 (¶6) (Miss. 2006).

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in denying the "heat of passion" jury instruction as it was necessary to

support William's defense. The facts of the case give way for the jury to make a reasonable inference

that Michelle Mullin was involved in an attempt to rob the defendant. Due to the trial court's denial

of Williams' fundamental right, Williams is entitled to have his conviction reversed and remanded

to the trial court for a new trial. If the Court should, however, discover any plain error not set forth

in this brief, the defendant request that this Court reverse and remand the case for a new trial.