IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JULIAN C. WILLIAMS

FILED

APPELLANT

JUL 0 8 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-2030

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING A "HEAT OF PASSION" INSTRUCTION

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE REQUESTED "HEAT OF PASSION" JURY INSTRUCTION

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE REQUESTED "HEAT OF PASSION" JURY INSTRUCTION

Williams contends that the court below erred in denying the requested jury instructions regarding heat of passion manslaughter. Defense instruction D-9 purports to set forth the elements of heat of passion manslaughter as set out in Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-35. The instruction permitted a verdict of manslaughter if the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant killed the deceased in a cruel or unusual manner, without malice but in the heat of passion, and not necessarily in self-defense and with the authority of law. (R. Vol. 1, p. 55). Defense instruction D-10 defined heat of passion as "a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given and will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror." (R. Vol. 1, p. 56). Williams argues that heat of passion manslaughter was a theory of his defense, and that the jury should have been instructed thereon.

The trial court refused the "heat of passion" instructions for the reason that there was no evidence in support of them. The trial court was correct. If anything, the most that the Appellant's fear - of - being robbed argument might establish would be the defense of self defense. The trial court instructed the jury on this defense. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 46).

Williams established nothing that would lead to a reasonable apprehension that his life was in danger. Williams offered no evidence to show that Mullins did anything to provoke him. It is true that the Appellant indicated that, after hearing a noise outside the trailer, he became seized with the notion that he was about to be robbed, yet he had no reasonable basis to think

that, or to think that the victim was any part of such a thing.

The victim had become agitated because she wanted drugs. Williams said that when he tried to leave the bedroom, she began to raise her voice and hit him. (State's Exhibit 5).

Mullins's actions alone, even if she did strike Williams, were insufficient provocation to support a heat of passion instruction. As the trial court noted, Williams never asserted that he believed he was in any danger from Mullins herself, but from the perceived noises outside. Even if Williams did believe that Mullins was part of a conspiracy to rob him, that is not what provoked the attack. The attack was not provoked by Mullins's actions or by his fear, but motivated by Williams's desire for silence so that he could determine what was going on outside.

Furthermore, Williams presented no evidence to show that he was in a violent and uncontrollable rage. Williams stated that he choked Mullins to make her be quiet so that he could better hear what he perceived to be footsteps outside the trailer. While he does claim that he believed he was about to be robbed and that he feared for his life, he offers nothing to show that he was in a violent and uncontrollable rage as a result of that fear. Heat of passion manslaughter requires a loss of control over his or her own actions caused by some emotional trauma. Williams offered no evidence that he was so overcome by his fear that he went into a violent and uncontrollable rage and was unable to stop himself from choking Mullins to death. Rather, his choking her was a calculated means of making her be quiet so he could hear what was going on outside. (State's Exhibit 5). His contention that he was just trying to silence Mullins, not kill her, is further indication that he was aware of and in control of his behavior. Williams was sufficiently in control of himself to hide the body from view under the bed and return to the group, lying to them about Mullins's and his own whereabouts. (State's Exhibit 5, R. Vol. 2, pp. 123-24).

It is well established that words alone are not sufficient for a heat of passion manslaughter instruction. *Gates v. State*, 484 So. 2d 1002, 1005 (Miss.1986). The Mississippi Court of Appeals has also determined that "a verbal argument and perhaps some pushing, tussling, and/or choking 'a little bit'" are not sufficient to require a heat of passion instruction where there was no testimony that the defendant was in a violent and uncontrollable rage. *Cooper v. State* 977 So. 2d 1220, 1223 (Miss. App. 2007). Here, there was no evidence that the Appellant was provoked into a violent and uncontrollable rage because of anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror. He claimed that he was afraid that he was going to be robbed, yet he had no objective reason to suppose that was so, or that the victim was a part of any such thing. The Appellant's suspicion that the victim might be part of a plot to rob him was not a reasonable provocation. There is nothing to support an argument that Williams was provoked into a violent and uncontrollable rage by an immediate and reasonable provocation as is clearly required by both Section 97-3-35. There is no evidence of such a state of mind in ths record.

Williams is correct that a trial court is bound to instruct the jury regarding the defendant's theory of defense where there is evidence in support of that defense. *Chinn v. State*, 958 So. 2d 1223, 1225 (Miss. 2007). Here, however, there was no evidence presented that supported the theory of defense presented in the requested jury instructions. The trial judge may properly refuse requested instructions if he finds them to incorrectly state the law, to repeat a theory fairly covered in another instruction, or to be without proper foundation in the evidence. *Howell v. State*, 860 So. 2d 704, 761 (Miss. 2003). The court below found that there was no evidence to support a finding of heat of passion manslaughter and properly refused to give the requested jury instructions.

Even if the defense had put forth some evidence to support a theory of heat of passion

manslaughter, the trial court was still correct in refusing to grant the requested instructions.

Instructions may be refused if they state the law incorrectly. *Id*; *Sanders v. State*, 781 So. 2d 114, 120 (Miss. 2001). In *Sanders*, the Mississippi Supreme Court was presented with a similar situation. The trial court had refused a jury instruction defining heat of passion manslaughter requested by the defense. The *Sanders* court found that because the sentence "[p]assion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time" had been left out of the definition, the law had not been correctly stated and the instruction was properly refused. *Sanders*, 781 at 120. Like the instruction in *Sanders*, requested instruction D-10 did not include the above sentence. Neither did Instruction 9.

While a trial court is required to grant jury instructions on an accused's theory of the case, any such instructions must be correct statements of the law. *Sanders*, 781 at 120. Because the requested jury instructions did not correctly state the law regarding heat of passion manslaughter, the court below did not err in refusing those instructions.

The defense failed to offer any evidence to support the theory of heat of passion manslaughter. The jury instructions offered regarding heat of passion manslaughter incorrectly stated the law. Because either of these reasons were sufficient justification for refusing to give the requested instructions, the court below was not in error. The instructions were properly refused.

The trial court did give an instruction on culpable negligence manslaughter. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 48). Given the Appellant's statement as to how he came to kill the victim, we think this instruction was more appropriate than a "heat of passion" instruction. The Appellant claimed that he was trying to silence the victim. His chosen method, though, demonstrated a reckless disregard for the safety of human life or an indifference to the consequences of such an act.

In any event, the jury was in fact given the option of considering manslaughter. We submit that since the jury had that option, if it was error to deny the "heat of passion" instruction any such error was cured by the giving of the culpable negligence manslaughter instruction.

Here, the Appellant asserts that his fear that he was about to be robbed was a sufficient provocation, for purposes of a "heat of passion" manslaughter instruction. This position is unreasonable. A naked woman, under the influence of cocaine and crying out for more cocaine, was hardly likely to present any significant threat to the Appellant. The Appellant simply had no reasonable ground to think he was in danger. The fact that he heard a noise without the trailer was of no significance: The area the trailer was in was inhabited by cocaine users who walked about the area for most of the night. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 171 - 173). While the area was known for drug and alcohol usage, it was not known for incidents of burglary or robbery. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 174).

The Assignment of Error should be denied.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.